
AUDIT COMMITTEE

Date and Time :- Tuesday, 4 February 2020 at 2.00 p.m.
Venue:- Town Hall, Moorgate Street, Rotherham.
Membership:- Councillors Cowles, Vjestica, Walsh (Vice-Chair), Wilson 

and Wyatt (Chair)

Independent Member – Mr. B. Coleman

The business which will be discussed are described on the agenda below and there 
are reports attached which give more details.

Rotherham Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting 
should inform the Chair or Governance Advisor of their intentions prior to the 
meeting.

AGENDA

1. To determine whether the following items should be considered under the 
categories suggested in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended 2006) of the Local Government Act 1972 

2. To determine any item(s) which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 
considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency 

3. Apologies for Absence 

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. Questions from Members of the Public or the Press 

6. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 26th November, 2019 (Pages 1 - 
9)

7. Grant Thornton External Audit Plan 2019/20 (Pages 10 - 33)

8. Closure of the Accounts 2019/20 (Pages 34 - 60)

9. Audit Committee Forward Work Plan (Pages 61 - 70)

 



10. Items for Referral for Scrutiny 

11. Exclusion of the Press and Public 
Resolved:-  That, under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(1) of such Act indicated, as now 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 (information relating to business and financial affairs).

12. Finance and Customer Services Directorate Risk Register (Pages 71 - 79)

13. Corporate Strategic Risk Register (Pages 80 - 92)

14. Internal Audit Progress Report - 1st November - 31st December, 2019 
(Pages 93 - 115)

15. Date and time of next meeting 
Tuesday, 24th March, 2020, at 2.00 p.m.

Chief Executive.



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

AUDIT COMMITTEE
26th November, 2019

Present:- Councillor Wyatt (in the Chair); Councillors Cowles, Vjestica and Walsh and 
Mr. B. Coleman (Independent Person).

Gareth Mills (Grant Thornton) was in attendance.

Cabinet Members Allen, Beck and Lelliott were in attendance for Minute Nos. 54 and 
55 (Risk Management – Assistant Chief Executive and Regeneration and 
Environment).

40.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest made at the meeting.

41.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC OR THE PRESS 

There were no members of the press or public present at the meeting.

42.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 26TH 
SEPTEMBER, 2019 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting of the 
Audit Committee held on 26th September, 2019.

Resolved:-  That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Audit 
Committee be approved as a correct record of proceedings.

43.   MID-YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND PRUDENTIAL 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT - 2019/20 

Consideration was given to the report presented by the Head of Corporate 
Finance outlining the mid-year treasury review which also incorporated 
the needs of the Prudential Code to ensure adequate monitoring of the 
capital expenditure plans and the Council’s Prudential Indicators. 

The review, as set out in the Appendix submitted, highlighted the key 
changes to the Council’s capital activity (the PIs) and the actual and 
proposed treasury management activity (borrowing and investment).

With regard to investments, the primary governing principle remained 
security over return and the criteria for selecting counterparties continued 
to reflect this.

Overall borrowing remained fairly constant over the period covered by the 
report.  The Council would maintain its strategy of being significantly 
under-borrowed against the capital financing requirement as the most 
cost effective approach in the current financial climate.  The Council’s 

Page 1 Agenda Item 6



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

existing Treasury Management Strategy provided for the Council to take 
out £30M of new borrowing per annum over the next 4 years to reduce 
the amount of under-borrowing over time.  The position would remain 
under review and an update of the Strategy would be submitted to 
Members within the Budget and Council Tax 2020/21 report to Council in 
February, 2020.  

With regard to governance, strategies and monitoring were undertaken by 
the Audit Committee.

The report showed that the underlying economic and financial 
environment remained difficult for the Council, foremost being the 
improving but still challenging concerns over investment counterparty risk.  
This background encouraged the Council to continue maintaining 
investments short term and with high quality counterparties.  The 
downside of such a policy was that investment returns remained low.  

As the Council continued to utilise the short term borrowing market to 
generate interest rate savings as part of approved budget plans, the level 
of short term borrowing would continue to rise.  As a result of this, the 
Council would need to increase its Prudential Indicator for borrowing 
volumes with a maturity date less than 12 months, currently set at 35% of 
total borrowing.  This change would come into effect as part of the 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21.

Treasury Management and Prudential Indicators would form part of the 
2020/21 budget report submitted to Council on 26th February, 2020.

Discussion took place with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 PWLB was the lender of choice for most local authorities
 The Authority was borrowing within the Strategy set
 There was an indicator worked to which suggested the timeframe for 

each loan

Resolved:-  That the report be noted.

44.   INFORMATION GOVERNANCE ANNUAL REPORT 

Consideration was given to an update and annual report presented by 
Paul Vessey, Head of Information Management, on the Council’s 
compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the 
Data Protection Act (DPA).

Since the last report submitted on 19th June, 2019 (Minute No. 4 refers), 
all outstanding tasks had been completed and all required policies and 
processes for compliance with GDPR and DPA were now in place and 
embedded within the organisation.  It was now the responsibility of all 
Directorates and Service areas to comply with the Council’s Data 
Protection policies and procedures.

Page 2



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

Monitoring of the Council’s compliance with GDPR and DPA was carried 
out by the Corporate Information Governance Group (CIGG) which had 
representatives from all Directorates and Chaired by the Council’s Senior 
Information Risk Officer.  Any risks were monitored on a regular basis by 
the Group with risks and actions logged and reviewed at CIGG meetings 
and, if necessary, escalated in line with the Council’s risk management 
processes.

The key issues were:-

 Maintain compliance
Compliance with Data Protection principles was a continuous project
CIGG fulfilled a core function in monitoring and overseeing 
information risks
Regularly monitored the effectiveness of the Council’s Data Protection 
Policies and each Directorate’s Information Governance and Data 
Protection processes

 Raised awareness of Data Protection
Improvements in employee training awareness had led to increase in 
the identification of potential risks
Public awareness of information rights had resulted in an increase of 
75% in the volume of Right of Access requests (RoAR) – 97 received 
in 2017/18 and 170 in 2018/19

 Monitor performance of Freedom of Information (FOI) and Right of 
Access requests
Completion times for both types of requests had seen improved 
performance
Performance would continue to be closely monitored
Requests varied substantially in complexity and workload

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 There had been occasions when complaints had been received with 
regard to performance but this had been due to some quite complex 
RoARs.  However, there had been no actions taken against the 
Authority by the Information Commissioner

 Internal Audit had undertaken a full audit of the approach taken to 
GDPR and FOI

 Rotherham’s performance was comparable to that of its neighbouring 
authorities

 All FOI and RoARs currently being worked on were those received 
within the current financial year

 FOIs still had a timeconsuming restriction on them; there was no such 
restriction on RoARs

Resolved:-  (1)  That the General Data Protection Regulation annual 
report 2018/19 be noted.

Page 3



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

(2)  That the legal requirement of the Council continuing its maintenance 
of its Information Governance policies and processes in compliance with 
legislation be noted.

45.   EXTERNAL INSPECTIONS, REVIEWS AND AUDITS UPDATE 

Consideration was given to a report, presented by Simon Dennis, 
Corporate Risk Manager, providing details of recent and current external 
audits and inspections including the details of arrangements that were in 
place regarding the accountability and governance for implementing 
recommendations arising therefrom.

The report included detail of progress being made in respect of the 
following specific areas and Directorates:-

 Children and Young People’s Services
 Adult Care and Housing
 Regeneration and Environment Services
 Finance and Customer Services
 External Auditor’s Report on the Accounts 2018/2019

It was noted that the report fed into the Annual Governance Statement.

Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2) That the governance arrangements that were currently in place for 
monitoring and managing the recommendations from external audits and 
inspections, as now reported, be noted.

(3) That the Audit Committee continue to receive regular reports in 
relation to external audit and inspections and the progress made in 
implementing recommendations.

46.   CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Further to Minute No. 50 of the meeting held on 27th November, 2018, 
David Webster, Head of Internal Audit, submitted the refreshed Council 
Code of Corporate Governance for consideration.

There had been no new revisions to the CIPFA (the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy) and SOLACE (the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives) guidance on delivering good governance in 
local government.  However, it was good practice to review and revise the 
Council Code on an annual basis.

The Corporate Governance Group had completed the review.  It should 
also be noted that at the time of the last review the Council had still been 
in intervention meaning that some aspects of Guidance had not applied.  
These had now been included within the Code and reflected the guidance 
in full.

Page 4



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

The 7 key principles set out in the guidance which underpinned the 
governance of each local government organisation had not changed.  The 
Rotherham Code followed each of the principles and demonstrated how 
they were applied and evidenced in practice.  

Resolved:-  That the refreshed version of the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance be approved.

47.   ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION POLICY, STRATEGY AND SELF-
ASSESSMENT AGAINST CIPFA CODE OF PRACTICE 

Further to Minute No. 34 of the Audit Committee meeting held on 2nd 
October, 2018, consideration was given to a report presented by David 
Webster, Head of Internal Audit.  It detailed the proposed update to the 
Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and Strategy following an 
annual review process designed to ensure that the Policy and Strategy 
were up-to-date with current best practice and to take into account any 
changes to the Council’s organisational structure.

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption required an annual report on performance against the 
Strategy.  

The report also provided a summary of proposals to further strengthen the 
Council’s fraud and corruption arrangements following a refresh of the 
self-assessment against the CIPFA Code of Practice on managing the risk 
of fraud and corruption.

The main changes to the documents were:-

 Reference to the new electronic system to declare interests, gifts and 
hospitality

 An update on the way to report a suspected wrongdoing under the 
Whistleblowing and Serious Misconduct Policy

It was also suggested that the out of hours contact number for concerns 
regarding both an adult and child safeguarding issue be included under 
Section 5.7.

The updated Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy was attached at Appendix 
A and the updated Strategy at Appendix B.  Appendix C of the report 
contained an update to the self-assessment against the CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption.  It was important 
that the arrangements continued to be reviewed and updated where 
necessary to ensure the risk of fraud continued to be minimised.    

Resolved:-  (1)  That the proposed revisions to the Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy and Strategy, including the textual amendments and 
additions discussed at the meeting, be approved.

Page 5



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

(2)  That the proposed actions intended to strengthen the Council’s fraud 
and corruption arrangements be noted.  

48.   RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND GUIDE REFRESH 2019 

Further to Minute No. 51 of the meeting held on 27th November, 2018, 
Simon Dennis, Corporate Risk Manager, submitted proposed minimal 
changes to the Risk Policy and Strategy.

The changes in the main consisted of typographical corrections and the 
updating of dates and names.  The Council’s risk management processes 
had been working effectively and it was the view of the Risk Champions 
group that implementing significant changes at the present time would be 
unnecessarily disruptive to the development of risk management in the 
Council.  However, in the course of the coming year, work would 
commence on an adaptation to the style of risk registers to reflect lessons 
learned since the adoption of the “word based” version last year.

Resolved:-  That the revised Risk Policy and Strategy be approved.

49.   AUDIT COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 

Consideration was given to the proposed forward work plan for the Audit 
Committee covering the period January to September, 2020.

Resolved:-  That the Audit Committee forward plan, now submitted, be 
supported and any amendments arising actioned in due course.

50.   ITEMS FOR REFERRAL FOR SCRUTINY 

Resolved:-  That the Information Governance Annual Report be referred 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board for information.

51.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved:-  That under Section 100(A) 4 of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of such 
Act indicated, as now amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006 (information relates to finance and 
business affairs).

Page 6



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

52.   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT FOR THE PERIOD 1ST 
SEPTEMBER TO 31ST OCTOBER 2019 

Consideration was given to a report presented by David Webster, Head of 
Internal Audit, which provided a summary of Internal Audit work 
completed during 1st September to 31st October, 2019, and the key issues 
that had arisen therefrom.    

The completion of the audit plan had been impacted by a member of the 
Audit Team leaving at the end of July and their replacement only working 
4 days a week.

The current position with regards to the plan was given in Appendix A with 
11 reviews having been deleted from the current year’s plan and 
additional days being allocated to 2 reviews; the deleted reviews were 
listed in Appendix B.  

7 audits had been finalised since the last Audit Committee meeting all 
with Substantial or Reasonable Assurance.    

Appendix D set out details of the unplanned responsive work completed 
since the last Audit Committee with Appendix E summarising Internal 
Audit’s performance against a number of Indicators.

Appendix F showed the number of outstanding recommendations that had 
passed their original due date, age rated.  The detail was then given, 
where they had been deferred the comment received from the Manager 
was given and where there was no change to the due date or comment, 
the Manager had not updated the system.  

Discussion ensued on various matters contained within the agreed 
actions section of the report which included changes that were to be 
made to the working practices and earlier reminders to be sent to officers 
and Assistant Directors which would hopefully reduce the number of 
outstanding recommendations.

Resolved:-  (1)  That the Internal Audit work undertaken since meetings of 
the Audit Committee, 1st September to 31st October, 2019, and the key 
issues arising therefrom be noted.

(2) That the information submitted regarding the performance of Internal 
Audit and the actions being taken by management in respect of the 
outstanding actions be noted.  

53.   EXTERNAL ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL AUDIT 

David Webster, Head of Internal Audit, presented a proposal for an 
external assessment to be undertaken of Internal Audit to reflect the 
changes that had taken place.

Page 7



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

Under Public Sector Internal Audit Standards Internal Audit must be 
externally assessed against the standards at least every five years.  
Rotherham MBC Internal Audit was last externally assessed at the end of 
2015.  

Discussion took place on the options available for the assessment 
together with the relevant costs and the preferred option.

Resolved:-  (1)  That the completion of an external validation of an internal 
assessment of Internal Audit be endorsed.

(2)  That Option 1 be the preferred option and be carried out by the Head 
of Internal Audit from another Authority.  

(3)  If (2) above could not be achieved, then Option 3 be proceeded with 
and the external validation be carried out by the CIPFA consultant stated 
in the report submitted.

54.   RISK MANAGEMENT DIRECTORATE - ASSISTANT CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 

Consideration was given to a report, presented by Shokat Lal (Assistant 
Chief Executive) providing details of the Risk Register and risk 
management activity within the Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate 
and in particular highlighting:-

 How the Register was maintained/monitored and at what frequency
 Involvement of the Cabinet Members for Finance and Corporate 

Services and Housing
 How risks were included on and removed from the Register
 Anti-fraud activity in the Directorate

The Cabinet Member for Housing was in attendance for this item.

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised:-

 4 risks were currently rated as red :
(a)  Tackling Family Poverty
(b)  Operating sound Recruitment Practices encompassing statutory 
and safeguarding requirements.
(c)  Successfully delivering the Council’s Change Programme
(d)  Management and delivery of the Vulnerable People Resettlement 
Scheme and the Asylum Programme

 Implementation of the new HR and Payroll Service had been added 
as a risk.  Internal Audit would be undertaking a review

 The definition used by the Council for Family Poverty

Resolved:- That the progress and current position in relation to risk 
management activity in the Assistant Chief Executive’s Directorate, as 
detailed in the report now submitted, be noted.

Page 8



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 26/11/19

55.   REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE RISK 
REGISTER 

Consideration was given to a report, presented by Paul Woodcock, 
Strategic Director, Regeneration and Environment, providing details of the 
Risk Register and risk management activity within the Regeneration and 
Environment’s Directorate.

The Cabinet Members for Jobs and the Local Economy and Cleaner, 
Greener Communities, were also in attendance for this item.

The Committee sought reassurance on the Risk Register and risk 
management activity in particular highlighting:-

 How the Register was maintained/monitored and at what frequency
 Involvement of the Cabinet Members for Jobs and the Local 

Economy, Waste Roads and Community Safety and Cleaner, Greener 
Communities

 How risks were included on and removed from the Register
 Anti-fraud activity in the Directorate

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised:-

 The Register currently had 19 risks listed 3 of which were also 
deemed Strategic risks

 A de-brief would take place following the activation of the Emergency 
Plan in connection with the recent flooding incidents.  It was important 
for Elected Members to feed into that process

 A condition survey of the Authority’s estate had been undertaken 
 Importance of diversification of the Town Centre
 Flood defence work in the Town Centre
 Licensing standards/Home to School Transport
 Discussion of the Risk Register with Cabinet Members
 BDR/Household Waste Collection Contract

Resolved:- That the progress and current position in relation to risk 
management activity in the Regeneration and Environment Directorate, as 
detailed in the report now submitted, be noted.

56.   DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 

Resolved:-  That a further meeting be held on Tuesday, 28th January, 
2020, commencing at 2.00 p.m.

Page 9



Page 1 of 5

Select report type
Audit Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting
Audit Committee – 04 February 2020

Report Title
Grant Thornton External Audit Plan 2019/20 

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Judith Badger, Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services

Report Author(s)
Rob Mahon (Finance Manager – Financial Accounting)
Finance & Customer Services Directorate
01709 254518 rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Borough-Wide or Choose an item.
Choose an item.
Report Summary

The Council’s external auditor, Grant Thornton, in their External Audit Plan set out 
the proposed external audit work to be undertaken to form an opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements for 2019/20 and to conclude on whether the Council 
has satisfactory arrangements in place to secure value for money in the use of its 
resources.

The plan outlines the areas Grant Thornton have determined to be significant risk for 
special audit consideration.

Recommendations

1. Audit Committee is asked to note Grant Thornton’s audit plan for 2019/20.

List of Appendices Included

Appendix 1 Grant Thornton Audit Plan 2019/20

Page 10 Agenda Item 7

mailto:rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk


Page 2 of 5

Background Papers
Audit Appointment Letter 2019/20
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
National Audit Office – Code of Audit Practice 

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 11



Page 3 of 5

Grant Thornton External Audit Plan 2019/20
 
1. Background

1.1 Grant Thornton’s statutory responsibilities and powers are set out in the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit 
Practice.

1.2 The audit has two key objectives, requiring Grant Thornton to audit/review and 
report on the Council’s:

 Statement of Accounts (including the Annual Governance Statement): 
providing an opinion on the accounts; and

 use of resources: concluding on the arrangements in place for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council’s use of resources 
(the value for money conclusion).

2. Key Issues

2.1 Grant Thornton’s Annual Plan outlines the audit approach and in particular the 
key risks to the financial statements and Value for Money opinions and how 
they plan to cover these within the audit.

2.2 The International Standards on Auditing provides guidance on the significant 
risks which should be considered by auditors, these being risks which require 
special audit consideration.  Grant Thornton have identified these significant 
risks, which are set out below.  However, they do not consider Fraudulent 
Transactions to be a significant risk for the Council and therefore no specific 
work will be completed, other than normal audit practices and procedures.    A 
brief description of each risk is provided on pages 5 to 9 (financial statements) 
and page 12 (value for money) of the audit plan:

 Fraudulent Transactions
 Management override of controls
 Valuation of Pension Liabilities
 Valuation of Land and Buildings
 Implementation of the Council’s new payroll system
 IFRS 16 leases planning and initial disclosures
 Financial Standing – delivery of 2019/20 budget, savings plan and 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit position and recovery plan

Page 12



Page 4 of 5

3. Options considered and recommended proposal

3.1 Consideration of alternative options was not required.

4. Consultation on proposal

4.1 No consultation is required in respect of this report.

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

5.1 No decision which will require implementation is anticipated from this report.

6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications (to be written by the 
relevant Head of Finance and the Head of Procurement  on behalf of s151 
Officer)

6.1 A proposed fee of £129,288 has been set for 2019/20, compared to £117,438 
for 2018/19.  The fee for 2019/20 is governed by the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) company set up by the LGA as successor body to the 
Audit Commission, any change to the final fee will have to be agreed by the 
PSAA and the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 

6.2 The Council’s external auditors now face significantly greater pressure on to 
deliver higher quality audits by requiring auditors to demonstrate greater 
professional scepticism when carrying out their work across all sectors – and 
this includes local audit. This has resulted in auditors needing to exercise 
greater challenge to the areas where management makes judgements or relies 
upon advisers, for example, in relation to estimates and related assumptions 
within the accounts. As a result, audit firms have updated their work 
programmes and reinforced their internal processes and will continue to do so 
to enable them to meet the current expectations. Therefore the audit fee for 
2019/20 includes an additional fee of £20,850, this increase has been seen 
across the sector, not just for RMBC, it is not a reflection on the Council’s 
quality of accounts.

6.3 There are no direct procurement implications arising from the detail of this 
report.

7. Legal Advice and Implications (to be written by Legal Officer on behalf of 
Assistant Director Legal Services)

7.1 There are no specific Legal implications arising from the report.

8. Human Resources Advice and Implications

8.1 There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report.

Page 13



Page 5 of 5

9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

9.1 There are no implications arising from the proposals to Children and Young 
People and Vulnerable Adults.

10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications

10.1 There are no implications arising from this report to Equalities and Human 
Rights.

11. Implications for Partners

11.1 There are no implications arising from this report to Partners or other 
directorates.

12. Risks and Mitigation

12.1 Changes to the Plan and the fee may be necessary if significant new audit risks 
emerge or Grant Thornton’s expectations are not met. Should this be the case, 
Grant Thornton will first discuss the reason for any change in fee with the 
Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services. They will then be brought 
to the attention of the Audit Committee outlining the reasons for any change.

13. Accountable Officer(s)
Judith Badger (Strategic Director of Finance & Customer Services)

Approvals obtained on behalf of:-

Named Officer Date
Chief Executive Click here to enter 

a date.
Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services 
(S.151 Officer)

Judith Badger 27/01/20

Head of Legal Services (Monitoring 
Officer)

Bal Nahal 27/01/20

Assistant Director of Human 
Resources (if appropriate)

Click here to enter 
a date.

Head of Human Resources 
(if appropriate)

Click here to enter 
a date.

Report Author: Rob Mahon (Head of Corporate Finance)
Finance & Customer Services Directorate
01709 254518 rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk

This report is published on the Council's website. 

Page 14

mailto:rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk
https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2020

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

24 January 2020

P
age 15



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4                

3. Significant risks identified      5

4. Other risks identified  9

5. Other matters 10

6. Materiality 11

7.    Value for Money arrangements                                                                                           12

8.    Audit logistics & team                                                                                                 13

9. Audit fees                                                                                                                   14

10. Independence & non-audit services                                                                                               16

Appendix

A. Audit Quality – national context 18

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the

Authority or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.

We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,

nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Gareth Mills

Engagement Lead

T:  0113 200 2535 

E: Gareth.Mills@uk.gt.com

Thilina De Zoysa

Engagement Manager

T: 0113 200 1589

E: Thilina.De.Zoysa@uk.gt.com

Greg Charnley

Engagement Assistant 

Manager 

T: 0113 200 2558

E: Greg.F.Charnley@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 

is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 16



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 3

1. Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory 

audit of Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘the Authority’) for those charged with 

governance. 

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit 

Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin and 

end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities are also 

set out in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public 

Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for appointing us as auditor of 

the Authority. We draw your attention to both of these documents on PSAA website

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on Auditing 

(ISAs) (UK).  We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the:

• Authority’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of 

those charged with governance (the Audit Committee)

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Authority for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit Committee of your 

responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Authority to ensure that proper arrangements are in 

place for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Authority is fulfilling these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Authority's business and is risk 

based. 

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

• Management override of controls

• Valuation of land and buildings

• Valuation of net pension fund liability

• Implementation of a new payroll system. 

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA 260) Report in 

July 2020.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £9m (PY £10.5m) which equates to 1.5% (PY 1.8%) of your prior year gross expenditure for cost of services. We are 

obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. The ‘clearly trivial’ reporting 

threshold has been set at £450,000 (PY £525,000). 

Value for Money 

arrangements

Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risks: 

• Financial standing – the Authority as other authorities, continues to operate under significant financial pressures. For 2019-20, the Council is planning to deliver a 

balanced outturn position but to achieve this, needs to deliver savings of some £7.7m and other budgetary measures of £8.1m whilst managing cost and demand 

pressures within Children’s Services, Adult Social Care and other vital services for the local population.

• Dedicated School Grant deficit position and recovery plan – The Dedicated School Grant (DSG) reserve was in material deficit of £15.1m as at 31 March 2019. 
This was an increase of £5.4m during 2018-19 period. During 2017-18 the reserve increased by £4.5m to £9.6m deficit. Therefore, during last two years, the DSG 
deficit has increased by c10m. DSG net expenditure continues to be a challenging service area for the Authority in 2019-20 and for the foreseeable future. We will 
be considering and monitoring the Council’s arrangements in place to deliver its DSG recovery plan.

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in February and March and our final visit will take place in June and July.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit 

Findings (ISA260) Report. Our fee for the audit will be £129,288 (PY: £117,438) for the Authority, subject to the Authority meeting our requirements set out on page 13. 

The increase in fees reflects the additional work which will be required during 2019-20. Further details are set out on pages 14 and 15.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able 

to express an objective opinion on the Authority’s financial statements.

P
age 17

https://www.psaa.co.uk/


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 4

2. Key matters impacting our audit
Factors

Our response

.

The wider economy and political uncertainty 

Local Government funding continues to be stretched with increasing cost 

pressures and demand for services from residents. The Authority achieved a 

balanced budget for 2018-19 under challenging environment. Although the actual 

expenditure for 2018-19 was £9.6m more than the approved 2018-19 budget this 

was mitigated by use of directorate balances (£3.9m), and in year use of other 

budgetary measures of £5.7m, (including budget contingency reserves of £2m). 

As a result, the general fund reserves reduced from £48m to £41.5m excluding the 

DSG deficit of £15.1m. 

For 2019-20, the Authority is planning to deliver a balanced outturn position but to 

achieve this, needs to deliver savings of some £7.7m whilst continuing to manage 

cost and demand pressures within Children’s Services, Adult Social care, DSG  

and other vital services for the local population.

The Month 7 Financial Monitoring Report presented to Cabinet indicates the 

Authority is currently projecting an overall general fund overspend of £4.1m at the 

year end. This arises from continuing pressures on social care services and some 

timing issues with the delivery of some budget savings which are taking longer 

than anticipated to be achieved in full. The Council has £3.2m of the budget 

contingency reserve remaining and continues to work to identify further mitigating 

budget savings and cost reductions in order to maintain a balanced budget 

position

At a national level, the government is continuing its negotiation with the EU over 

Brexit. The Authority will need to ensure that it is prepared for all outcomes, 

including in terms of any impact on contracts, on service delivery and on its 

support for local people and businesses.

• We will consider your arrangements for managing and reporting your financial 

resources as part of our work in reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

• We will consider whether your financial position leads to material uncertainty 

about the going concern of the Authority and will review related disclosures in 

the financial statements. 

• We will continue to meet with senior managers and consider the Authority’s 

financial position and delivery of the savings programme.

Financial reporting and audit – raising 

the bar 

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 

has set out its expectation of improved 

financial reporting from organisations and 

the need for auditors to demonstrate 

increased scepticism and challenge, and 

to undertake more robust testing as 

detailed at Appendix A.  

Our work in 2018-19 highlighted areas 

where local government financial 

reporting, in particular, property, plant 

and equipment and pensions, needs to 

be enhanced, with a corresponding 

increase in audit procedures. We have 

also identified an increase in the 

complexity of local government financial 

transactions which require greater audit 

scrutiny.

Other issues 

DSG deficit position and recover plan

The DSG reserve was in material deficit of £15.1m as at 

31 March 2019. This was an increase of £5.4m during 

2018-19 period. During 2017-18 the reserve increased 

by £4.5m to £9.6m deficit. Therefore, during last two 

years, the DSG deficit has increased by c10m. 

DSG net expenditure continues to be a challenging 

service area for the Authority in 2019-20 and for the 

foreseeable future. The Council set a 3 year recovery 

plan at the end of 2018-19 to reduce the rate of  deficit 

increase from £15.1m in 2018-19 to £17.6m in 2021-22 

(a £2.5m increase over 3 years).

The forecast at the end of October 2019 shows an in-

year pressure of £3.3m which may increase the deficit 

to 18.4m at the year end against a planed deficit of 

£16.5m for 2019-20. 

Preparing for IFRS 16 Implementation

The Authority will need to undertake initial preparatory 

work on its leases to prepare for the full introduction of 

IFRS 16 for 2020-21.

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to 

meeting the expectations of the FRC with 

regard to audit quality and local 

government financial reporting.

Our proposed work and fees, as set out 

in this Audit Plan, has been agreed with 

the Strategic Director of Finance and 

Customer Services and is subject to 

PSAA agreement. 

• As part of our Value for Money arrangements work 

we will continue to consider the Council’s 

arrangements in place to achieve the DSG recovery 

plan, other contingency arrangements and 

accounting for the DSG deficit in line with relevant 

guidance 

• We will assess the adequacy of your disclosures 

about the financial impact of implementing IFRS 16 

– Leases in your 2019-20 financial statements. 

P
age 18



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 5

3. Significant risks identified

Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 

the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may

be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no 

risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the 

revenue streams at the Authority, we have determined that the risk of fraud 

arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including at 

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council, mean that all forms of fraud 

are seen as unacceptable.

As we do not consider this to be a significant risk for the 

Authority, we will not be undertaking any specific work in this 

area other than our normal audit procedures, including 

validating total revenues to council tax, non domestic rates 

and central government grants income.

Management over-ride of controls Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of 

management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. The Authority 

faces external scrutiny of its spending and this could potentially place 

management under undue pressure in terms of how they report 

performance.

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 

journals, management estimates and transactions outside the course of 

business as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 

assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management 

controls over journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for 

selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and after 

the draft accounts stage for appropriateness and 

corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and 

critical judgements applied and made by management 

and consider their reasonableness with regard to 

corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting 

policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

P
age 19



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of land and buildings The Authority revalues its land and buildings on a rolling five-yearly basis.

This valuation represents a significant estimate by management in the 

financial statements due to the size of the numbers involved (£905 million) 

and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key assumptions.

Additionally, management will need to ensure the carrying value in the 

Authority’s financial statements is not materially different from the current 

value or the fair value (for surplus assets) at the financial statements date, 

where a rolling programme is used.

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings, particularly 

revaluations and impairments, as a significant risk, which was one of the 

most significant assessed risks of material misstatement, and a key audit 

matter.

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls put 

in place by management to ensure that the Authority’s 

valuation of land and buildings are not materially misstated 

and evaluate the design of the associated controls

• evaluate management's processes and assumptions for the 

calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to 

valuation experts and the scope of their work

• evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 

valuation expert

• discuss with the valuer the basis on which the valuation was 

carried out

• challenge the information and assumptions used by the 

valuer to assess completeness and consistency with our 

understanding

• in a new development for 2019-20, engage our own valuer 

to assess the instructions to the Authority’s valuer, the 

Authority’s valuer’s report and the assumptions that 

underpin the valuation

• test revaluations made during the year to see if they had 

been input correctly into the Authority's asset register

• evaluate the assumptions made by management for those 

assets not revalued during the year and how management 

has satisfied themselves that these are not materially 

different to current value at year end.

Significant risks identified

P
age 20



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 7

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of the pension fund net 

liability

The Authority's pension fund net liability, as reflected in the balance sheet 

as the retirement benefit obligations, represents a significant estimate in the 

Authority’s financial statements. 

The Authority’s pension fund net liability is considered a significant estimate 

due to the size of the numbers involved (PY: c £460m in the balance sheet) 

and the sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of the Authority’s pension fund net liability 

as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks of 

material misstatement.

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls put 

in place by management to ensure that the Authority’s 

pension fund net liability is not materially misstated and 

evaluate the design of the associated controls

• evaluate the instructions issued by management  to their 

management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the 

scope of the actuary’s work

• assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 

actuary who carried out the Authority’s pension fund 

valuation

• assess the accuracy and completeness of the information 

provided by the  to the actuary to estimate the liability

• test the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability 

and disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements 

with the actuarial reports from respective actuaries

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the 

actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of the 

consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and performing any 

additional procedures suggested within the report

• obtain assurances from the auditor of the SouthYorkshire 

Pension Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity 

and accuracy of membership data; contributions data and 

benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension fund and 

the fund assets valuation in the pension fund financial 

statements.

Significant risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA260) Report in July 2020.

P
age 21



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 8

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Implementation of a new Payroll 

system (iTrent)

The Council implemented a new Payroll system, iTrent  from 1 June 2019. 

Based on our knowledge and experience, iTrent payroll systems are used 

by other local authorities similar in size and scale to the Authority. 

The payroll system is a major financial process that generates a large 

volume and value of transactions and is central to producing materially 

accurate payroll payments and the resulting payroll figure in the financial 

statements. 

Local authority accounting transactions can be complex and are typically 

significant in volume. The Authority employs over 5,000 employees and 

their salaries and pension payments are paid through it’s payroll system. In 

2018-19, over £221m employee benefit expenses were processed and paid 

through Authority’s payroll system. This is c33% (one third) of Authority’s 

total expenditure in 2018-19. There is also an interface between the payroll 

system and general ledger. 

Accuracy and completeness of data migration from an old to a new system 

is paramount for transparent financial reporting. This is considered more 

important  when the system in question processes significant amount of 

transactions and accounts for nearly one third of Authority’s total 

expenditure. There is an inherent risk that things could go wrong in data 

migration from one system to another due to human and technological 

errors. 

We consider this is a risk requiring special audit consideration for our 2019-

20 audit 

We will:

• review the management arrangements and understand the 

processes and controls in place to ensure successful 

migration of data from the old payroll system to the new 

iTrent system as at 1 June 2019

• through our IT specialists, undertake work to determine 

whether adequate controls for new system have been 

established to ensure that new system / application which is 

either developed or acquired was authorised, tested, 

approved before implementation

• through our IT specialists, undertake a review to establish 

how the new system is configured / access allocated and 

other IT general controls implemented for smooth transition

• examine the opening balances as at 1 July 2019 to confirm 

these have been completely and accurately brought forward 

from the old payroll system to iTrent.

Significant risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings (ISA260) Report in July 2020.

P
age 22



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 9

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

International Financial 

Reporting Standard (IFRS) 

16 Leases – (issued but 

not adopted) 

The public sector will implement this standard from 1 April 2020. It will 

replace IAS 17 Leases, and the three interpretations that supported its 

application (IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 

Lease, SIC-15, Operating Leases – Incentives, and SIC-27 Evaluating the 

Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease). 

Under the new standard the current distinction between operating and 

finance leases is removed for lessees and, subject to certain exceptions, 

lessees will recognise all leases on their balance sheet as a right of use 

asset and a liability to make the lease payments. 

The Code adapts IFRS 16 and requires that the subsequent measurement 

of the right of use asset where the underlying asset is an item of property, 

plant and equipment is measured in accordance with section 4.1 of the 

Code. 

However, in accordance with IAS 8 and paragraph 3.3.4.3 of the Code 

disclosures of the expected impact of IFRS 16 should be included in the 

Authority’s 2019-20 financial statements. 

We will consider the completeness of this disclosure note around impact 

on IFRS 16 as an other risk for 2019-20 financial statements audit. 

We will:

• Evaluate the processes the Authority has adopted to assess the impact 

of IFRS16 on its 2020-21 financial statements and whether the 

estimated impact on assets, liabilities and reserves has been disclosed 

in the 2019-20 financial statements.

• Assess the completeness of the disclosures made by the Authority in its 

2019-20 financial statements with reference to The Code and 

CIPFA/LASAAC ‘Local Authority Leasing Briefings’.

4. Other risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report in July 2020.

P
age 23

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/technical-panels-and-boards/cipfa-lasaac-local-authority-code-board/local-authority-leasing-briefings


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 10

5. Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other

audit responsibilities, as follows:

• We read your Narrative Report and Annual Governance Statement and any other 

information published alongside your financial statements to check that they are 

consistent with the financial statements on which we give an opinion and consistent 

with our knowledge of the Authority

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 

Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued by CIPFA

• We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 

Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions

• We consider our other duties under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 

Act) and the Code, as and when required, including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2019-20 

financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 

relation to the 2019-20 financial statements

• Issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 

Authority under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act 

or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material 

misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each 

material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material 

balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will 

not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the 

appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is 

a material uncertainty about the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA 

(UK) 570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption 

and material uncertainties, and evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements.

P
age 24



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 11

6. Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 

the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 

requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in 

the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the gross 

expenditure of the cost of services of the Authority for the previous financial year (2018-19). 

In the prior year a similar benchmark was used. Materiality at the planning stage of our audit 

is £9m (PY: £10.5m), which equates to 1.5% of your 2018-19 gross expenditure of cost of 

services. Last year this percentage was 1.8% of the same benchmark. The reduction in 

materiality compared to the previous year reflects the higher profile of local audit following 

external reviews such as those led by Sir John Kingman and Sir Tony Redman.

We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts balances or disclosures at a 

lower level of precision. The senior officer remuneration disclosure in the financial 

statements has been identified as an area requiring lower level of materiality of £5,000 (PY: 

£5,000), due to the sensitive nature of the disclosure. 

We will reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 

become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a different 

determination of planning materiality. 

Matters we will report to the Audit Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to our 

opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit 

Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 

identified by our audit work. 

Under ISA (UK) 260  ‘Communication with those charged with governance’, we are obliged 

to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ 

to those charged with governance. ISA (UK) 260 defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are 

clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by 

any quantitative or qualitative criteria.  In the context of the Authority, we propose that an 

individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than 

£450,000 (PY: £525,000). 

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 

audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the Audit 

Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Gross expenditure of cost of services 

£599.6 million for the Authority 
Materiality

Prior year gross operating costs

Materiality

Authority financial 

statements materiality 

£9m

(PY: £10.5m)

£450,000 

Misstatements to be 

reported to the Audit 

Committee

(PY: £525,000)

P
age 25



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 12

7. Value for Money arrangements
Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work in November 2017. The

guidance states that for Local Government bodies, auditors are required to give a

conclusion on whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place to secure value for

money.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys

resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks 

Those risks requiring audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that 

proper arrangements are not in place at the Authority to deliver value for money.

1. Financial standing - delivery of 2019-20 budget and savings plan

The Authority achieved a balanced budget for 2018-19 under challenging 

environment. Although the actual expenditure for 2018-19 was £9.6m more than the 

approved 2018-19 budget this was mitigated by use of directorate balances (£3.9m), 

and in year use of other budgetary measures of £5.7m, (including budget 

contingency reserves of £2m). As a result, the general fund reserves reduced from 

£48m to £41.5m excluding the DSG deficit of £15.1m (see below). 

For 2019-20, the Authority is planning to deliver a balanced outturn position but to 

achieve this, needs to deliver savings of some £7.7m whilst continuing to manage 

cost and demand pressures within Children’s Services, Adult Social care, DSG and 

other vital services for the local population.

The Month 7 Financial Monitoring Report presented to Cabinet indicates the 

Authority is currently projecting an overall general fund overspend of £4.1m at the 

year end. This arises from continuing pressures on social care services and some 

timing issues with the delivery of some budget savings which are taking longer than 

anticipated to be achieved in full. The Council has £3.2m of the budget contingency 

reserve remaining and continues to work to identify further mitigating budget savings 

and cost reductions in order to maintain a balanced budget position.

We will continue to assess progress in the delivery of the savings approved within 

the two-year budget for 2019/20 and 2020/21. We note that the current iteration of 

the MTFS does not require further savings to be identified for 2021/22

Informed 

decision 

making

Sustainable 

resource 

deployment

Working 

with partners 

& other third 

parties

Value for 

Money 

arrangements 

criteria

2. Dedicated School Grant (DSG) deficit position and recovery plan

The DSG reserve was in material deficit of £15.1m as at 31 March 2019. This was 

an increase of £5.4m during 2018-19 period. During 2017-18 the reserve increased 

by £4.5m to £9.6m deficit. Therefore, during last two years, the DSG deficit has 

increased by c10m. 

DSG net expenditure continues to be a challenging service area for the Authority in 

2019-20 and for the foreseeable future. The Council set a 3 year recovery plan at 

the end of 2018-19 to reduce the rate of deficit increase from £15.1m in 2018-19 to 

£17.6m in 2021-22 (a £2.5m increase over 3 year period).

The forecast at the end of October 2019 shows an in-year pressure of £3.3m which 

may increase the deficit to £18.4m at the year end against a planed deficit of 

£16.5m for 2019-20.The main pressures are linked to alternative provision, high 

cost external residential and independent sector placements. As part of our Value 

for Money arrangements work we will continue to consider the Council’s 

arrangements in place to achieve the DSG recovery plan, other contingency plans 

and accounting for the DSG deficit in line with relevant guidance available.

P
age 26



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 13

8. Audit logistics & team 

Client responsibilities

Where clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this does not 

impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 

disadvantaging other clients. Where the elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds that 

agreed due to a client not meeting its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on 

site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client 

not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit to the 

agreed timescales. In addition, delayed audits will incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit, you need to ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 

us, including all notes, the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 

accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 

you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 

reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 

agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

Planning and

risk assessment 

Interim audit

February & 

March 2020

Year end audit

June & July 2020

Audit

Committee

4 February 2020

Audit

Committee

24 March 2020

Audit

Committee

xx July 2020 TBC

Target date for 

AAL

31 August 2020

Audit 

Findings 

Report

Issue 

Audit 

opinion

Audit 

Plan

Interim 

progress 

update report

Annual 

Audit 

Letter 

(AAL)

Gareth Mills

Engagement Lead

M 07825 115921 

E Gareth.Mills@uk.gt.com

Thilina De Zoysa

Engagement Manager

M 07500 784942

E   Thilina.De.Zoysa@uk.gt.com

Greg Charnley

Assistant Manager 

M 0113 200 2558

E Greg.F.Charnley@uk.gt.com

Target date

for sign off

31 July 2020

Gareth leads our relationship with you and takes 

overall responsibility for the delivery of a high 

quality audit, ensuring the highest professional 

standards are maintained and a commitment to 

add value to the Council.

Thilina plans, manages and leads the delivery of 

the audit. He is the first point of contact for your 

finance team for discussing any emerging issues.

Greg’s role is to assist in planning, managing and 

delivering the audit fieldwork, ensuring the audit is 

delivered effectively, efficiently and supervises 

and co-ordinates the on site audit team.

P
age 27

mailto:Gareth.Mills@uk.gt.com
mailto:Thilina.De.Zoysa@uk.gt.com
mailto:Greg.F.Charnley@uk.gt.com


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 14

9. Audit fees

Actual Fee 2017-18

(KPMG)

Actual Fee 2018-19

(Grant Thornton)

Proposed Fee 2019-20

(Grant Thornton)

Council Audit scale fee set by PSAA £140,828 £108,438 £108,438

Audit fee variations – additional work required (see page 15) - £9,000 £20,850

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £135,998 £117,438 £129,288

.

Assumptions:

In setting the above fees, we have assumed that the Authority will:

- prepare a good quality set of accounts, supported by comprehensive and well presented/referenced working papers which are ready at the start of the audit

- provide appropriate analysis, support and evidence to support all critical judgements and significant estimates made during the course of preparing the financial statements

- provide early notice of proposed complex or unusual transactions which could have a material impact on the financial statements.

Relevant professional standards:

In preparing our fee estimate, we have had regard to all relevant professional standards, including paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of the FRC’s Ethical Standard which stipulate that the 

Engagement Lead (Key Audit Partner) must set a fee sufficient to enable the resourcing of the audit with staff of appropriate skills, time and abilities to deliver an audit to the 

required professional standard.

Planned audit fees 2019-20

Across all sectors and firms, the FRC has set out its expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism 

and challenge and to undertake additional and more robust testing. Within the public sector, where the FRC has recently assumed responsibility for the inspection of local 

government audit, the regulator requires that all audits achieve a 2A (few improvements needed) rating. 

Our work across the sector in 2018-19 has highlighted areas where local government financial reporting, in particular, property, plant and equipment and pensions, needs to be 

improved. We have also identified an increase in the complexity of local government financial transactions. Combined with the FRC requirement that 100% of audits achieve a 2A 

rating this means that additional audit work is required. We have set out below the expected impact on our audit fee. The table overleaf provides more details about the areas 

where we will be undertaking further testing. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with regard to audit quality and local government financial reporting. Our proposed work and fee for 

2019-20 at the planning stage, as set out below and with further analysis overleaf, has been agreed with the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services and is subject to 

PSAA agreement. 

P
age 28

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0bd6ee4e-075c-4b55-a4ad-b8e5037b56c6/Revised-Ethical-Standard-2016-UK.pdf


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 15

Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
Planned audit fees

The table below shows the planned variations to the original scale fee for 2019-20 based on our best estimate at the audit planning stage. Further issues identified during the 

course of the audit may incur additional fees. In agreement with PSAA (where applicable) we will be seeking approval to secure these additional fees for the remainder of the 

contract via a formal rebasing of your scale fee to reflect the increased level of audit work required to enable us to discharge our responsibilities. Should any further issues 

arise during the course of the audit that necessitate further audit work additional fees will be incurred, subject to PSAA approval. 

Audit area: 2019-20 fee £ Rationale for fee variation:

PSAA scale fee 108,438 PSAA scale fee

Increased challenge and 

depth of work
5,000

To meet the higher threshold set by the FRC, we will be required to undertake additional work and challenge in the following areas, 

including:

• use of specialists

• information provided by the entity (IPE)

• journals & management review of controls

• accounting estimates

• financial resilience and going concern

• related parties and similar areas

Pensions – valuation of net 

pension liabilities under 

International Auditing 

Standard (IAS) 19

3,500
A significant audit risk area, we have increased the granularity, depth and scope of coverage, with increased levels of sampling, 

additional levels of challenge and explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting.

PPE Valuation – work of 

experts and other PPE related 

additional work

9,350

A significant audit risk area, we have increased the granularity, depth and scope of coverage, with increased levels of sampling, 

additional levels of challenge and explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting.

In addition from 2019-20, we have engaged our own audit expert to support our work on valuation of your land and buildings (Wilks 

Head Eve) and increased the scope of our audit work to ensure an adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the 

assumptions that underpin PPE valuations. 

The increase includes an estimate for the fee payable to the auditor’s expert and our additional work in that respect.

Reduction in materiality 3,000

A reduction in materiality from 1.8% of the benchmark (gross expenditure in cost of services) to 1.5% leads to up to an extra

£3,000 charge, reflecting additional areas to audit and sample testing requirements, resulting from a lower level of material ity and a 

greater level of scrutiny and assurance.

Revised scale fee 129,288 (to be approved by PSAA)

P
age 29



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 16

10. Independence and non audit services  
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 

or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 

additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 

Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 

person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 

Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 

public bodies. 

Audit and Non-audit services

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The following non-audit services were identified:

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related:

Housing Benefit 

Certification 

15,826 Self-Interest 

(because this is a 

recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  for this 

work is £15,826 (on the basis that we complete the HB workbooks) in comparison to the total fee for the audit of 

£129,288 (after fee variations )and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. 

DfT grant on Local 

Transport  Plan Major 

Projects

2,700 Self-Interest 

(because this is a 

recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee for this 

work is £2,700 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £129,288 (after fee variations) and in particular relative to 

Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. 

Pooling of Housing Capital 

Receipts Return 

Certification

3,000 Self-Interest 

(because this is a 

recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  for this 

work is £3,000 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £129,288 (after fee variations) and in particular relative to 

Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. 

Non-Audit related:

None -

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 

consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors.  Any changes and full details of all fees charged for audit related and non-audit related services 

by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings (ISA260) report at the conclusion of the audit.

None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees. 

The firm is committed to improving our audit quality – please see our transparency report - https://www.grantthornton.ie/about/transparency-report/

P
age 30

https://www.grantthornton.ie/about/transparency-report/


© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20

Appendix

A. Audit Quality – national context P
age 31



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20 18

Appendix A: Audit Quality – national context

What has the FRC said about Audit Quality?

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) publishes an annual Quality Inspection of our firm, 

alongside our competitors. The Annual Quality Review (AQR) monitors the quality of UK 

Public Interest Entity audits to promote continuous improvement in audit quality.

All of the major audit firms are subject to an annual review process in which the FRC 

inspects a small sample of audits performed from each of the firms to see if they fully 

conform to required standards.

The most recent report, published in July 2019, shows that the results of commercial audits 

taken across all the firms have worsened this year. The FRC has identified the need for 

auditors to:

• improve the extent and rigour of challenge of management in areas of judgement

• improve the consistency of audit teams’ application of professional scepticism

• strengthen the effectiveness of the audit of revenue

• improve the audit of going concern

• improve the audit of the completeness and evaluation of prior year adjustments.

The FRC has also set all firms the target of achieving a grading of ‘2A’ (limited 

improvements required) or better on all audits. 

Other sector wide reviews

Alongside the FRC, other key stakeholders including the Department for Business, Energy 

and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have expressed concern about the quality of audit work and 

the need for improvement. A number of key reviews into the profession have been 

undertaken or are in progress. These include the review by Sir John Kingman of the 

Financial Reporting Council (Dec 2018), the review by the Competition and Markets 

Authority of competition within the audit market, the ongoing review by Sir Donald Brydon 

of external audit, and specifically for public services, the Review by Sir Tony Redmond of 

local authority financial reporting and external audit. As a firm, we are contributing to all 

these reviews and keen to be at the forefront of developments and improvements in public 

audit.

What are we doing to address FRC findings?

In response to the FRC’s findings, the firm is responding vigorously and with purpose. As 

part of our Audit Investment Programme (AIP), we are establishing a new Quality Board, 

commissioning an independent review of our audit function, and strengthening our senior 

leadership at the highest levels of the firm, for example through the appointment of Fiona 

Baldwin as Head of Audit. We are confident these investments will make a real difference. 

We have also undertaken a root cause analysis and put in place processes to address the 

issues raised by the FRC. We have already implemented new training material that will 

reinforce the need for our engagement teams to challenge management and demonstrate 

how they have applied professional scepticism as part of the audit. Further guidance on 

auditing areas such as revenue has also been disseminated to all audit teams and we will 

continue to evolve our training and review processes on an ongoing basis.

What will be different in this audit?

We will continue working collaboratively with you to deliver the audit to the agreed 

timetable whilst improving our audit quality. In achieving this you may see, for example, an 

increased expectation for management to develop properly articulated papers for any new 

accounting standard, or unusual or complex transactions. In addition, you should expect 

engagement teams to exercise even greater challenge management in areas that are 

complex, significant or highly judgmental which may be the case for accounting estimates, 

going concern, related parties and similar areas. As a result you may find the audit process 

even more challenging than previous audits. These changes will give the Corporate 

Governance and Audit Committee – which has overall responsibility for governance - and 

senior management greater confidence that we have delivered a high quality audit and that 

the financial statements are not materially misstated. Even greater challenge of 

management will also enable us to provide greater insights into the quality of your finance 

function and internal control environment and provide those charged with governance 

confidence that a material misstatement due to fraud will have been detected.

We will still plan for a smooth audit and ensure this is completed to the timetable agreed. 

However, there may be instances where we may require additional time for both the audit 

work to be completed to the standard required and to ensure management have 

appropriate time to consider any matters raised. This may require us to agree with you a 

delay in signing the announcement and financial statements. To minimise this risk, we will 

keep you informed of progress and risks to the timetable as the audit progresses.

We are absolutely committed to delivering audit of the highest quality and we should be 

happy to provide further detail about our improvement plans should you require it. 

P
age 32



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2019-20

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 33



Page 1 of 7

Select report type
Audit Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting
Audit Committee – 04 February 2020

Report Title
Closure of the Accounts 2019/20

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Judith Badger, Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services

Report Author(s)
Rob Mahon (Finance Manager – Financial Accounting)
Finance & Customer Services Directorate
01709 254518 rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Borough-Wide or Choose an item.
Choose an item.
Report Summary

The principal objective of the Council’s annual financial statements is to make the 
Council accountable to a range of local and national stakeholders over the 
stewardship of its resources. 

It is therefore important that the Council’s financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with recognised accounting standards so that they can be relied upon by 
users of the accounts.

This report brings to Members attention the main changes to the local authority 
accounting framework in 2019/20, including their effect on the Council’s accounting 
policies, and to the statutory framework for preparing and reporting local authority 
financial statements (the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015). 

The report also reminds Members that the Audit Committee, as the body in the 
Council charged with governance, will need to formally approve the audited 
Statement of Accounts at its July meeting. 

Page 34 Agenda Item 8

mailto:rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk


Page 2 of 7

Recommendations

1. Audit Committee is asked to note the key accounting issues and main 
changes to the accounts in 2019/20 listed in Appendix A;

List of Appendices Included

Appendix A – Key accounting issues and changes to the accounts in 2019/20 
Appendix B RMBC Accounting Policies

Background Papers
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2019/20
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 35



Page 3 of 7

Closure of the Accounts 2019/20
 
1. Background

1.1 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the Code) together with 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations set the accounting and statutory framework 
for local authority financial reporting.

1.2 The Code is based on internationally recognised accounting standards 
(International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These form the basis for 
large private sector companies financial reporting. However, the funding of 
Local Government by central government and local tax payers is in some key 
aspects very different from that under IFRS. This makes local authority financial 
statements complex and difficult to interpret due to the need to reconcile the 
Council’s financial performance and financial position under IFRS with that 
under the arrangements for funding local government. 

1.3 The introduction of the faster closedown requirements from 2017/18 presents 
challenges and as part of meeting the challenges CIPFA encourage local 
authorities to focus on material items only in their financial reporting.    
Materiality for financial reporting purposes is fundamental. It determines the 
amount by which items or disclosures within the financial statements would 
need to be misstated before it would influence the understanding or a decision 
a reader of the accounts might make. An item is not material if its omission or 
misstatement would not influence such decisions or understanding. For audit 
purposes, Grant Thornton’s overall materiality for the 2019/20’s accounts is £9 
million with differences of less than £450,000 being considered trivial.

2. Key Issues

Faster closure

2.1 The decision to bring forward the timetable for publishing the unaudited 
financial statements by one month and for publishing the audited financial 
statements by two months represents a major challenge for all local authorities 
and has resulted in a need to adopt radically different approaches to ensure 
that the tighter deadlines are to be achieved. It has meant having to re-engineer 
processes to:

 Better align in-year and end of year reporting processes
 Bring forward work wherever possible 
 Place greater reliance on the use of estimates 
 Automate or streamline processes wherever possible

2.2 The Council successfully met the 2018/19 timeframes in closing its accounts 
last year.  It has continued to review internal procedures from lessons learned 

Page 36



Page 4 of 7

in order to streamline processes and improve the quality of the closedown 
processes and procedures. However it should be noted that, as per the Grant 
Thornton Audit plan for 2019/20, the volume of audit review and testing that the 
external auditors will now have to carry out will place additional strain on the 
Council’s procedures, resources and controls in meeting the faster closure 
deadline.

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 – Local elector rights

2.3 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 confers on local electors the right 
to inspect the accounting records, books, deeds, vouchers, contracts, bills and 
other documentation relating to the financial year in question. It also gives them 
the right to question the auditor about the accounting records or make a formal 
objection on a matter of public interest or because they think an item of account 
may be unlawful.

2.4 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, local electors can only 
exercise their rights of inspection and to question the auditor or make formal 
objections for a single period of 30 working days commencing the day after the 
unaudited accounts have been published.

2.5 As accountability to the local electorate is an important part of the governance 
of the Council, notice of the inspection period will be advertised on the 
Council’s website in advance of the unaudited financial statements being 
published. 

2.6 A further consideration is that in order for the inspection period to commence, 
the Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report (introduced by the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015) will need to be published alongside the 
Council’s unaudited financial statements on the Council’s website. The 
timetable for preparing the Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report 
is therefore being co-ordinated with the publication of the draft unaudited 
Statement of Accounts to meet this requirement.

Local Authority Accounting Framework 

2.7 The Council must disclose this financial year the expected balance sheet 
impact of the new IFRS 16 leases, that will see the removal of operation leases 
from April 2020, with lessees expected to recognise all leases on their balance 
sheet as a right of use asset and a liability to make the lease payments. Further 
details of the Council’s work to prepare for IFRS 16 are detailed at appendix A.

2.8 Major changes to service delivery that have taken place in 2019/20 will also 
have a bearing on the financial statements. This includes the continuing effect 
of schools converting to academies.

Page 37



Page 5 of 7

2.9 The Council’s Statement of Accounting Policies is attached as Appendix B. 
3. Options considered and recommended proposal

3.1 There is no discretion on whether to comply with the Code or the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations. The purpose of the recommendations is simply for Audit 
Committee to note the changes to the local authority accounting framework in 
2019/20 and to note the actions being taken by officers to ensure that they are 
being implemented.

4. Consultation on proposal

4.1 Close liaison continues to be maintained with the Council’s External Auditors to 
ensure that complex accounting issues and action taken in response to 
changes to the local authority accounting framework are agreed in advance of 
the financial statements being prepared.

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

5.1 The statutory deadline for publishing the unaudited financial statements is 31 
May. The statutory deadline for publishing the audited financial statements is 
31 July.

6. Financial and Procurement Advice and Implications (to be written by the 
relevant Head of Finance and the Head of Procurement  on behalf of s151 
Officer)

6.1 There are no financial or procurement implications directly associated with 
closure of the accounts, other than the impact on the audit fee of having good 
quality financial statements and supporting working papers which meet Grant 
Thornton’s expectations.

7. Legal Advice and Implications (to be written by Legal Officer on behalf of 
Assistant Director Legal Services)

7.1 None, other than ensuring compliance with the requirements of the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015.

8. Human Resources Advice and Implications

8.1 There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report.

9. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

9.1 There are no implications arising from the proposals to Children and Young 
People and Vulnerable Adults.

Page 38



Page 6 of 7

10. Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications

10.1 There are no implications arising from this report to Equalities and Human 
Rights.

11. Implications for Partners

11.1 The NHS requires information on how the pooled budgets operated under the 
Better Care Fund have been spent to an earlier timetable than that of the 
Council. Arrangements have been made to ensure this earlier timetable is met. 
There are no other implications arising from this report to Partners.

12. Risks and Mitigation

12.1 Robust project management arrangements have been put in place to ensure 
that the timetable is adhered to and quality standards met.

13. Accountable Officer(s)
Judith Badger (Strategic Director of Finance & Customer Services)

Approvals obtained on behalf of:-

Named Officer Date
Chief Executive Click here to enter 

a date.
Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services 
(S.151 Officer)

Judith Badger 27/01/20

Head of Legal Services (Monitoring 
Officer)

Bal Nahal 27/01/20

Assistant Director of Human 
Resources (if appropriate)

Click here to enter 
a date.

Head of Human Resources 
(if appropriate)

Click here to enter 
a date.

Report Author: Rob Mahon (Finance Manager – Financial Accounting)
Finance & Customer Services Directorate
01709 254518 rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk

This report is published on the Council's website. 

Page 39

mailto:rob.mahon@rotherham.gov.uk
https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


Page 7 of 7

Appendix A

KEY ACCOUNTING ISSUES / CHANGES TO THE ACCOUNTS IN 2019/20

Area of
accounts

Issue Action taken

IFRS 16 Leases IFRS 16 removes the previous lease classifications of 
operating and finance leases for lessees and it requires 
that a right-of-use asset be recognised for all leases 
(there are exemptions for short-term and low value 
leases) with a corresponding lease liability 
representing the lessee's obligation to make lease 
payments for the asset.

This has now been deferred until April 2020 following 
a decision made by the CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority 
Accounting Board in December 2018. 

However as part of the Councils accounts for 2019/20 
it must disclose the estimated impact of IFRS 16.

Initial assessments of 
any operational leases 
the Council holds have 
been carried out, with 
a view to preparing 
draft note for the 
accounts on the 
impact of the IFRS, 
further work will be 
required to ensure the 
Council is compliant 
by April 2020.

Schools 
converting to 
academy

During the course of 2019/20, a further 9 schools 
are expected to convert to an academy. The 
impact on the Council’s balance sheet and income 
and expenditure has yet to be determined but is 
likely to be material. 

The Narrative 
Report will highlight 
the impact.

Page 40



APPENDIX B

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS AND POLICIES

1 General Principles

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2019/20 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2020. The Council is required to prepare an 
annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those 
Regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019/20 (“the Code”), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS).

The objective of the Statement of Accounts is to provide information about the Council’s 
financial performance, financial position and cash flows that is useful to a wide range of 
stakeholders in assessing the Council’s stewardship of its resources.

Fundamental to making this assessment is that information is both relevant and faithfully 
represented. 

A key feature of relevance is materiality.  Information is material if omitting it or misstating it 
could influence decisions that users make on the basis of financial information presented in 
the Statement of Accounts. Conversely, there is no need to comply with the accounting 
principles or disclosure requirements of the Code where information is not material. 

Information is faithfully represented if it is complete, unbiased and properly determined using 
appropriate estimation techniques and judgements. 

The accounting policies are the principle bases, conventions, rules and practices that specify 
how the effects of transactions and other events are reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
The accounting policies and estimation techniques selected are those that best assist users in 
their understanding of the financial information presented or disclosed in the Statement of 
Accounts. The expectation is that this will be achieved by selecting accounting policies that 
are compliant with the Code. 

Consistent policies are applied both within the year and between years. Where policies have 
changed the reason and effect is disclosed.  

The underlying assumptions made in preparing the Statement of Accounts are that financial 
performance is reported on an accruals basis and that the Council is a going concern. 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.

The CIES is reported using total cost principles under international financial reporting 
standards not the way in which local government is funded. The income and expenditure 
reported in the CIES will not therefore correspond to the outturn charged to the General Fund 
and HRA reported against the Council’s budget. 

Note 1 in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements, the “Funding and Expenditure Analysis” 
provides a high level reconciliation of the expenditure analysis reported in the CIES to the net 
amount charged to the General Fund and HRA which is to be met by taxpayers and council 
house tenants together with additional disclosure on material reconciling adjustments.

Page 41



2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices 
or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, 
other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. 
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively by adjusting opening balances and 
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied unless 
the Code specifies that the change should be applied prospectively.

Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and 
future years affected by the change.

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

3 Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are 
made or received. 

The general principle is that revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received which, in most transactions, will be the amount of cash and cash equivalents 
receivable. This position is in accordance with the new IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers.

Revenue is recognised when the following conditions have been met:

- Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

- Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can measure 
reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council.

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed.  Where there is a gap 
between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are carried as inventories 
on the Balance Sheet.

Expenses in relation to services received (including those rendered by the Council’s officers) 
are recorded as expenditure when the services are received, rather than when payments are 
made.

Interest payable on borrowings (other than that capitalised on qualifying assets) and 
receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of the effective interest rate for the 
relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  Where 
there is evidence that debts are unlikely to be settled, the balance of debtors is written down 
and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Where the Council acts as an agent for another party, income and expenditure are 
recognised only to the extent that commission is receivable by the Council for the agency 
services rendered or the Council incurs expenses directly on its own behalf in rendering the 
services.

Page 42



4 Overheads and Support Services

Support services are operated, managed and reported as separate segments they are not 
apportioned across services but instead reported separately in their own right in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Under the Council’s current structure 
such costs predominantly fall within Assistant Chief Executive’s or Finance and Customer 
Services Directorates. 

5 Debtors

Debtors are recognised when the Council has delivered or tendered a supply of goods or 
services.  They are recognised and measured at fair value when revenue has been 
recognised, except for a financial asset where they form part of the asset’s carrying value 
(see accounting policy note 22). Amounts paid in advance of the receipt of goods/services are 
recognised as a prepayment.

6 Creditors

Creditors are recognised when the Council receives a supply of goods or services.  They are 
recognised and measured at fair value of the consideration payable except for a financial 
liability where they form part of the liability’s carrying value (see accounting policy note 22).  If 
consideration is received but the revenue does not meet the revenue recognition criteria, a 
receipt in advance is recognised.

7 Tax Income (Council Tax, Residual Community Charge, and National Non-
Domestic Rates)

Council Tax

Council Tax collection is an agency arrangement.  Income shown within the Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure Statement is the Council’s share of the year’s accrued income.  The 
difference between this and the amount transferred to the General Fund under statute 
(representing the demand on the Collection Fund for the year together with the Council’s 
share of the previous year’s surplus or deficit which is distributed or recovered) is taken to the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account.  Debtors are shown exclusive of the proportions 
attributable to major preceptors.

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR)

NNDR collection is an agency arrangement.  Business rate income within the Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure Statement is the Council’s share of the accrued business rate income 
for the year. The difference between this and the amount transferred to the General Fund 
under statute (representing the Council’s share of the estimated business rate income for the 
year together with the Council’s share of the previous year’s surplus or deficit which is 
distributed or recovered) is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.  The central 
share (after allowable deductions) of business rate income is paid out of the Collection Fund 
to central government. Growth in business rate income in an Enterprise Zone area, business 
rate income from renewable energy schemes and from businesses in New Deal areas is 
wholly attributable to the Council and transferred in full to the General Fund on an accruals 
basis. Debtors are shown exclusive of the proportions attributable to major preceptors

8 Inventories

Page 43



Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value except where acquired 
through a non-exchange transaction when cost is assumed to be equal to fair value at 
acquisition date. 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where held for 
distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge.

The cost attributed to identify inventory is assigned using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

9 Work in Progress (Construction Contracts)

Where the Council acts as a contractor, if the outcome of a construction contract can be 
estimated reliably, the percentage of completion method is used to recognise revenue and 
expenses.  Contract revenue is matched with the contract costs incurred in reaching the stage 
of completion, resulting in the reporting of revenue, expenses and surplus/deficit which can be 
attributed to the proportion of work completed.

If the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent it is 
probable costs will be recoverable, and costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
incurred.  When the uncertainties no longer exist, revenue and expenses are recognised 
using the percentage of completion method.

Should it become apparent that total costs will exceed total revenue the expected deficit on 
the contract is immediately expensed.

10 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 
three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management.

11 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Provisions

A provision is recognised when:

- there is a present obligation (legal/constructive) as a result of a past event,

- it is probable a resource outflow will be required to settle the obligation, and

- a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the 
making of a settlement or the payment of compensation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council becomes aware of the 
obligation, and measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect current best estimates. Where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of 
economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the 
provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.

Page 44



If some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed 
(e.g. an insurance claim), this is recognised when it is virtually certain that if the obligation is 
settled reimbursement will be received.  The reimbursement is treated as an asset but the 
amount recognised does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Contingent Liability

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed as a note to 
the accounts.  If it becomes probable that a resource outflow will be required for an item 
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised.

Contingent Asset

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council.

A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed as a note to the 
accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential.  If it has become virtually certain an inflow will arise and the asset’s value can be 
measured reliably, a debtor and related revenue are recognised.

12 Reserves

The Council sets aside specific amounts as usable reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure to be financed 
from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against 
the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against 
council tax for the expenditure.

Certain unusable reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current 
assets, financial instruments and retirement benefits and that do not represent usable 
resources for the Council – these reserves are explained in the sections relating to the 
relevant policies.

13 Government and Non-Government Grants

Government grants and third-party contributions, including donated assets are recognised as 
due when there is reasonable assurance that;

- the Council will comply with the conditions attached to them, and

- the grants and contributions will be received.

Where conditions of grant remain outstanding which could give rise to grant being repaid, 
grant is carried in the balance sheet as grant received in advance.
Conditions are stipulations that give the grant funder or donor the right to the return of their 
monies if it is not used for the purpose specified. 

Page 45



Revenue grants or contributions are credited to the relevant service line within net cost of 
services if specific or to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income if general or non ring-
fenced.

Capital grants are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income as general grant, but 
then reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Where capital grant has been recognised but has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is credited to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account within reserves.  Capital 
grant that has been used for financing purposes is transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.

14 Non-current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods 
or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be 
used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

Recognition

Expenditure on the acquisition and creation of or which add to Property, Plant & Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential 
to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is 
charged as an expense when it is incurred.

Measurement
  
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

- the purchase price,

- any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management, and

- the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling, removing or restoring an asset where the 
Council has an obligation to do so and is required to make provision for these costs.

Borrowing Costs - The Council has adopted a policy under IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ to 
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset.  In implementing a policy of capitalisation of borrowing costs the Council 
has determined what it sees as a qualifying asset and what the borrowing costs are, that are 
to be capitalised.

- Qualifying Assets – Assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, where this would cause a significant balance of borrowing costs to 
accrue.

- Borrowing costs – Where the Council borrows to specifically fund a scheme the amount 
that is capitalised is the actual cost of borrowing less investment income. Where funds 
are borrowed generally a capitalisation rate is used based on the weighted average of 
borrowing costs during the period.

The Council only capitalises borrowing costs when in addition to the above it becomes 
probable that the capital expenditure will result in future economic benefits or service potential 
to the Council; and that the borrowing costs can be measured reliably.

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition will not increase the cash flows of the Council. In the latter case, the cost of the 
acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council.

Page 46



Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value and 
any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made 
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. 
Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:

- infrastructure, community assets – depreciated historical cost,

- property, plant and equipment and intangible assets under construction are measured at 
historical cost,

- dwellings – current value based on existing use value for social housing (EUV-SH),

- all other assets – current value based on existing use (existing use value – EUV) for non-
specialised operational assets where there is an active market or where there is no 
market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost.

- Should an asset be re-classified as a Surplus Asset, it will be measured at fair value. 
Should an asset be re-classified as a Asset Held for Sale, it will be measure at fair value 
less cost to sell.

Depreciated historical cost is used as a proxy for current value for relatively short life assets 
such as vehicles, plant and equipment.

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to 
ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the 
year-end, but as a minimum every five years. In support of this the Council carries out an 
annual review of its assets for impairment. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to 
the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains unless they reverse a previous 
revaluation or impairment loss in which case they are credited to the relevant service line 
within net cost of services.

Where decreases in value are identified, the revaluation loss is accounted for by:

- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount 
of the accumulated gains),

- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the 
date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into 
the Capital Adjustment Account.

Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period an assessment takes place as to whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible 
differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognised for the shortfall.

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount 
of the accumulated gains),

Page 47



- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 
the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not 
been recognised.

Disposals

The carrying amount of an item is derecognised:
- on disposal through, for example, sale, donation, granting of a finance lease or transfer, 

or

- when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or 
disposal as a result, for example, of it being abandoned, scrapped or decommissioned.

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset 
Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at 
the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is the price that would be 
received from the selling the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants 
under the conditions prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Fair value for social housing 
being disposed of under Right to Buy (RTB) legislation is the discounted RTB value. 
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.

Assets held solely for capital appreciation purposes are classified as investment properties.

Non-operational property, plant and equipment which do not meet the criteria for 
reclassification as either Assets Held for Sale or investment properties are held within 
property, plant and equipment as Surplus Assets. Surplus Assets are carried in the balance 
sheet at their existing use value and revalued immediately prior to disposal if the current 
carrying value is materially different in order that the proper gain or loss on disposal can be 
determined.

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the 
Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited 
to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the 
gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of 
disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. A 
proportion of receipts relating to housing disposals (75% for dwellings, 50% for land and other 
assets, net of statutory deductions and allowances) is payable to the Government. The 
balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then 
only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce the Council’s underlying need 
to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve 
from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of Non-
Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page 48



Depreciation

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic 
allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives, the depreciable amount being 
an asset’s depreciated historic cost or fair value at the start of the financial year. No 
depreciation is charged in the year in which an asset is first made ready for use. A charge is 
made in the year in which an asset is derecognised or classified as held for sale. An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e., freehold land and 
certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e., assets under 
construction).
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:

- dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property 
as estimated by the Council’s valuer (Council dwellings over 30 Years or by using 
notional Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) if notional MRA reasonably reflects the annual 
cost of maintaining property in its current condition over a thirty-year period, other 
buildings and non-operational properties up to 100 years)

- vehicles – a reducing balance method over the useful life of the asset, as advised by a 
suitably qualified officer (Up to 10 years)

- infrastructure – straight-line allocation over 40 years

- plant, equipment and computers – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset 
as advised by a suitably qualified officer (plant and equipment up to 15 years and 
computers/office equipment up to 10 years).

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
Componentisation will take place as assets are acquired, enhanced, replaced or revalued.

Revaluation gains/losses are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have 
been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the 
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

15 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to 
record the cost of holding Non-Current Assets during the year:

- depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service,

- revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 
accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written 
off,

- amortisation of intangible Non-Current Assets attributable to the service.

The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual provision from 
revenue to contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an 
amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Council in accordance with statutory 
guidance. This is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and the policy is detailed 
below. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore 
replaced by the revenue provision in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting 
transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses represent a “real” charge to the HRA to be 
met by rent payers. However, the Council took advantage of the transitional protection offered 

Page 49



to housing authorities over a five year period to 2016/17, to reverse out impairment and 
revaluation losses relating to council dwellings and to cap the amount of depreciation charged 
on council dwellings at the notional Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) included within the HRA 
Business Plan for that year. From 2017/18, depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses 
are determined in accordance with the new Item 8 Credit and Item 8 Debit (General) 
Determination” which came into effect from 1 April 2017. That determination allows the 
Council to reverse out impairment and revaluation gains and losses relating to both council 
dwellings and non-dwellings.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

Prudent provision (MRP) is made annually for the repayment of debt relating to capital 
expenditure financed by borrowing or credit arrangements. The amount charged is 
determined having regard to the relevant statutory requirements and related guidance on 
MRP issued by MHCLG.

In 2014/15 the Council carried out a review of historic MRP payments made, indicating a 
significant overpayment, that has since been recovered via an annual MRP holiday (in line 
with the CIPFA Prudential Code & MRP Guidance). The recovery of any MRP that had been 
overcharged in previous years will be effected by taking an MRP holiday in full or in part 
against future years' charges that would otherwise have been made. The MRP holiday will be 
taken in such a way as to ensure that the total MRP after taking the holiday will not be less 
than zero in any financial year. Following the introduction of the revised CIPFA Prudential 
Code 2018/19 and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice it is no longer permissible 
for the Council to calculate new MRP overpayments in relation to historical transactions, 
however it can continue to realign the existing overpayment as the new code is not to be 
applied retrospectively.

16 Leases and Lease-Type Arrangements

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the 
lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease 
covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for 
classification.  Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to 
use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. The Council will recognise a lease 
where the contract for individual asset exceeds £25k.

(a) Finance Leases – Council as Lessee

An asset held under a finance lease is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability 
for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Council are added to the carrying 
amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the 
lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the years in which they are 
incurred.

Lease payments are apportioned between:

- a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset – applied to write down the lease 
liability, and

- a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

The apportionment is done in such a way as to produce a constant rate of interest on the 
outstanding liability in each period over the lease term

Page 50



An asset recognised under a finance lease is accounted for using the policies applied 
generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is 
shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life.

The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a Minimum Revenue Provision is made 
towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements and the 
Council’s policy for determining MRP. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses are 
therefore replaced by the revenue provision in the General Fund Balance, by way of an 
adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

(b) Operating Leases – Council as Lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased 
property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments.

(a) Finance Leases – Council as Lessor

Where the Council grants a finance lease over an asset, the relevant asset is written out of 
the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of 
the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A 
gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), 
matched by a lease asset in the Balance Sheet.

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between:

- an amount to write down the net investment in the lease including any premiums 
received, and

- finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is 
not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and will be required to be 
treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the 
payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to 
the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When the 
future rentals are paid, the element for the charge for the acquisition of the interest in the 
property is used to write down the lease asset. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are 
transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of Non-
Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
Amounts are appropriated from the Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund Balance 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

(b) Operating Leases – Council as Lessor

Where the Council grants an operating lease over an asset, the asset is retained in the 
Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments. Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income.

Page 51



17 PFI and PPP Arrangements

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, 
where the responsibility for making available the property, plant and equipment needed to 
provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the 
services that are provided under its PFI schemes and as ownership of the property, plant and 
equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the contracts for no additional charge, the 
Council carries the assets used under the contracts on its Balance Sheet as part of Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  The only exception to this is where PFI assets are transferred to 
academies under 125 year lease arrangements, at which point the assets are removed from 
the Council’s balance sheet.

PFI assets are initially recognised at their fair value when they are first made available for use 
balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for 
the capital investment (this is normally based on the relevant elements of capital cost in the 
operator’s financial model). Initial direct costs to the Council are added to the carrying amount 
of the asset. Any upfront contributions made by the authority to the PFI operator, either in the 
form of a cash lump sum or transfer of property that will not be used to provide services under 
the arrangement, are applied to write-down the PFI liability at the contribution’s value agreed 
in the operator’s financial model when the PFI asset is first made available for use.

PFI assets under construction are recognised on the balance sheet where the terms and 
conditions of the contractual obligation are such that the economic benefit of the asset flows 
to the Council at that time, similar to an asset that a Council constructs or develops for its own 
use.

PFI assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way 
as property, plant and equipment owned by the Council.

The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into five elements:

- fair value of the services received during the year – debited to the relevant service in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,

- finance cost – an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement,

- contingent rent – increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the 
contract, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,

- payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability due to the 
PFI operator (the profile of write-downs is calculated using the same principles as for a 
finance lease),

- lifecycle replacement costs – are accounted for as they are incurred. Where the profile of 
lifecycle expenditure actually incurred by the PFI operator differs significantly from the 
projected profile included within the PFI model adjustments are made to account for the 
difference. A prepayment is recognised where planned expenditure paid for through the 
unitary payment exceeds the actual amount incurred by the PFI operator. An additional 
liability is recognised where planned expenditure is less than that actually incurred. The 
prepayment / additional liability is carried forward in the balance sheet until the 
expenditure is actually incurred / settled, or , in the case of a prepayment when there is 
no longer an expectation that it will eventually be incurred by the PFI operator at which 
point it is charged to revenue. Lifecycle replacement costs which represent the 
refurbishment or replacement of major components are capitalised as Property, Plant 
and Equipment in accordance with Accounting Policy 14.

Page 52



18 Investment Properties

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the 
delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at Fair Value being the 
price that would be received from the selling the asset in an orderly transaction between 
market participants under the market conditions prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  
Investment Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market 
conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.

Rentals received and expenditure incurred in relation to investment properties are 
credited/charged to the Financing and Investment Income line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 

Revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital 
Receipts Reserve.

19 Intangible Assets

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled 
by the Council as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is 
expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset 
to the Council.

Internally generated assets are capitalised where it is demonstrable that the project is 
technically feasible and is intended to be completed (with adequate resources being 
available) and the Council will be able to generate future economic benefits or deliver service 
potential by being able to sell or use the asset.  Expenditure is capitalised where it can be 
measured reliably as attributable to the asset and is restricted to that incurred during the 
development phase (research expenditure is not capitalised).  Expenditure on the 
development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily intended to 
promote or advertise the Council’s goods or services.

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair 
value of the assets held by the Council can be determined by reference to an active market. 
The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired and any 
losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an 
intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory 
purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to 
have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital 
Receipts Reserve.

Page 53



20 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but 
does not result in the creation of a non-current asset is charged as expenditure to the relevant 
service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  This includes 
transformational expenditure on reform projects capitalised under the capital receipts 
flexibilities implemented with effect from 1 April 2016 under the Local Government Act 2003.  
Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital 
resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts 
charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax.

21 Heritage Assets

Heritage assets’ principal purpose is to contribute to knowledge and culture and which are 
preserved in trust for future generations for their artistic, cultural, environmental, historical, 
scientific or technological associations. They are recognised on balance sheet at cost or 
value. Where they are carried at value, the most appropriate and relevant valuation method is 
used including, e.g., insurance values. Revaluations are carried out as and when necessary 
in order to keep carrying values current (there is no requirement for them to be revalued at 
least every 5 years). 

Operational heritage assets (i.e. those that are being held for their heritage characteristics, 
but are also used for other activities or services) are accounted for as operational assets.

Depreciation is not provided on heritage assets where they have indefinite lives. 

Revaluation gains and losses and impairments of heritage assets are accounted for in exactly 
the same way as for Property, Plant and Equipment.

22 Financial Instruments

Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that 
reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their cashflow characteristics. 
There are three main classes of financial assets measured at:

- amortised cost,
- fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and 
- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

- Treasury Investments:
Those valued at Amortised Cost – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but 
are not quoted in an active market. These assets are Solely for Principal and Interest 
(SPPI), and they are part of the Council’s Business Model.  Whist Money Market Funds 
(MMF) behave as Amortised Cost, strictly they are FVPL, but there is little material 
difference in accounting, as such the Council will treat them as Amortised Cost.

- Non-Treasury Investments:
These are assets that have may have a quoted market price and/or do not have fixed or 
determinable payments, although where, for instance a loan is provided to a third party 
(SPPI), and is for a policy reason, then it would be at Amortised cost too.  Where is is not 
Amortised cost, this classification has two further sub sets for valuation:

- Fair Value through Comprehensive Income (FVCI), policy driven investments 
(not solely for profit), activity, which would normally simply be equity stakes in 
joint companies etc.

Page 54



- Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVPL), assets held purely for commercial 
investment (primarily for profit, firstly to raise monies/profit, that will be used to 
support the execution of normal service functions.

(a) Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 
authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are 
initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. 
Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based 
on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. For most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) 
and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

When the Council makes loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is recorded in the 
CIES (debited to the appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be 
foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the 
outstanding principal.

Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES 
at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable, with the difference 
serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions 
require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for 
the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and credited to the CIES to the net 
gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.

(b) Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVPL) and Fair Value through Comprehensive 
Income (FVCI)

These are assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have fixed or determinable 
payments. Of this classification those assets that are policy driven investments, not used to 
solely generate profit, but to actively support the execution of normal service functions are to 
be valued at Fair Value through Comprehensive Income (FVCI). They are recognised on the 
Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value. Where the asset has fixed or determinable 
payments, then this would be Amortised Cost (as above) with annual credits to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest receivable are based on the amortised cost of the asset multiplied by 
the effective rate of interest for the instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable 
payments, income (e.g. dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement when it becomes receivable by the Council.  In practice FVCI is likely to contain 
only service equity investments,

Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Fair value is measured by reference 
to prevailing interest or market rates using an appropriate valuation technique. 

Changes in fair value posted to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. Movements 
in impairment loss allowances debited/ credited to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services (with a compensating credit/debit not against the carrying amount of the asset but to 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure to offset movements against gains/losses on 
fair value). Cumulative gains/losses on fair value are posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services on derecognition.

Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less any 
impairment losses)

Page 55



(c) Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 

These are assets held purely for commercial investment (primarily for profit). All gains and 
losses posted to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services as they arise.

Expected Credit Loss Model 

The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised 
cost, either on a 12-month (i.e. the normal expectation of loss for this category of investment, 
no event occurring) or lifetime basis (whereby the initial assessment of risk has changed 
significantly by an event occurring). The expected credit loss model also applies to lease 
receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables 
(debtors) held by the authority. Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation 
that the future cash flows might not take place because the borrower could default on their 
obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased 
significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime 
basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the 
basis of 12-month expected losses. The authority holds a number of loans to local 
businesses. It does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available without 
undue cost or effort to support the measurement of lifetime expected losses on an individual 
instrument basis. It has therefore assessed losses for the portfolio on a collective basis.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value  this 
being the price that would be paid in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the date on which the liability is recognised. Ordinarily, this will be the transaction price, such 
as the principal amount of a loan received. Thereafter they are carried at their amortised cost.  
Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the 
carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. For most of 
the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance 
Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year 
according to the loan agreement.

The amount of interest charged to the HRA is determined on a fair and equitable share basis 
by reference to the HRA’s Capital Financing Requirement. 

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  However, where 
repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the 
modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively 
deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan 
by an adjustment to the effective interest rate.

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be 
spread over future years.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund 
Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Page 56



Where the Council has entered into financial guarantees that are not required to be 
accounted for as financial instruments they are reflected in the Statement of Accounts to the 
extent that provisions might be required or a contingent liability note is needed under the 
policies set out in the section on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

23 Employee Benefits

Benefits Payable During Employment

Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly within 12 months of the year-end), 
such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-
monetary benefits for current employees, are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
employees render service to the Council.  An accrual is made against services in the Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services for the cost of holiday entitlements and other forms of 
leave earned by employees but not taken before the year-end and which employees can 
carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the remuneration rates 
applicable in the following financial year. Any accrual made is required under statute to be 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance by a credit to the Accumulating Compensated 
Absences Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to 
accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis at the earlier of when the 
Council can no longer withdraw an offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises the 
cost of restructuring. 

Redundancy payments are charged to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. 

Pension strain costs are charged to Non Distributed Costs in accordance with statutory 
provisions which require that the General Fund be charged with the amount payable by the 
Council to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to 
the relevant accounting standards.  

Post-Employment Benefits

Employees of the Council are members of three separate pension schemes:

- The National Health Service Pension Scheme, administered by the NHS Business 
Services Authority (NHSBSA). 

- The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the 
Department for Education.

- The Local Government Pensions Scheme (LGPS), administered by South Yorkshire 
Pensions Authority.

All three schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
earned as employees worked for the Council.

The arrangements for both the National Health Service and Teachers’ schemes mean that 
liabilities for these benefits cannot be identified specifically to the Council.  These schemes 
are therefore accounted for as if they were a defined contributions scheme – no liability for 
future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet and the Public Health and 
Children’s and Education Service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statements are charged with the employer’s contributions payable to the National Health 
Service and Teachers’ Pensions Scheme in the year.

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

Page 57



- The liabilities of the South Yorkshire Pension Fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. 
an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee 
turnover rates etc., and projections of earnings for current employees.

- Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on 
the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds. In determining these 
liabilities, an assumption has been made on the advice of our actuaries that 50% of 
employees retiring will take an increase in their lump sum payment on retirement in 
exchange for a reduction in their future annual pension.

- The assets of the South Yorkshire Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included 
in the Balance Sheet at their fair value.

- The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

- current service cost – the increase in liabilities as result of years of service earned 
this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to 
the services for which the employees worked. 

- past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions as a 
result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of 
service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non 
Distributed Costs.

- net interest  – interest receivable on the fair value of plan assets held at the start of 
the period adjusted for changes in plan assets during the year as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments less the interest payable on pension liabilities 
both determined using the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds used 
to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period – 
debited/credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

- re-measurements - return on plan assets (net of admin expenses and excluding 
amounts included in net interest) and actuarial gains/losses that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions debited/credited to the 
Pensions reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

- contributions paid to the South Yorkshire pension fund – cash paid as employer’s 
contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an 
expense.

- In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance 
to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or directly to 
pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 
standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are 
appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 
credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the 
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the 
beneficial impact on the General Fund of being required to account for retirement 
benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Discretionary Benefits

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in 
the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any 
member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.

Page 58



24 Repayment of Debt – Metropolitan Debt

The Council is responsible for administering the former South Yorkshire County Council debt 
portfolio.  Part of this debt portfolio is the Council’s own liability (as a former member of the 
SYCC) and as such it will make its own principal and interest payments. Principal repayments 
are based on a 10% Sinking Fund using a methodology prescribed in Statutory Instrument 
1986 No. 437 and will be extinguished by 2020/21.

25 Value Added Tax (VAT)

VAT payable is included only to the extent that it is irrecoverable from HM Revenue & 
Customs, whilst VAT receivable is excluded from income.  The net amount due from/to 
HMRC at the end of the financial year is included within debtors or creditors.

26 Events after the Reporting Period

Events after the reporting period are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the audited Statement of 
Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events,

- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of 
events would have a material effect disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the 
events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date the Strategic Director - Finance and Customer Services 
authorises the audited Accounts for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.

27 Exceptional Items

When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed 
separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in 
the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of 
the Council’s financial performance.

28 Interests in Companies and Other Entities

Where the Council exercises control, shares control or exerts a significant influence over 
another entity, and the Council’s interests are material in aggregate, it will prepare Group 
Accounts. The Council’s interest in another entity can be contractual or non-contractual and 
may be evidenced by, but is not limited to, the holding of equity or debt instruments in the 
entity as well as other forms of involvement such as the provision of funding, liquidity support, 
credit enhancement and guarantees.

The Council has control over another entity, where it is able to direct the activities of that 
entity such that it is has exposure to or rights over variable returns and can use its power over 
the entity to affect the returns it receives. 

Shared control with another party or parties in a joint venture arises where decisions about 
activities that significantly affect returns require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control including the Council.  

The Council can exert a significant influence over an associate where the Council has the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity which fall short 
of control or joint control.

Page 59



The Council’s single entity financial statements include the income, expenditure, assets, 
liabilities, reserves and cash flows of the local Council maintained schools within the control of 
the Council.

Where local Council maintained schools convert to academies during the year, the assets, 
liabilities and reserves of the school are deconsolidated from the Council’s single entity 
accounts at their carrying amount at the date of conversion unless the school has a deficit for 
which the Council retains responsibility. The Non-Current Assets of the school are 
derecognised when the Council relinquishes control over school premises which it had held 
as a local Council maintained school through ownership, legally enforceable rights or some 
other means.

Interests in companies and other entities are recorded in the Council’s balance sheet as 
financial assets at cost, less any provision for losses.

29 Acquisitions and discontinued operations 

Transfers of functions to or from other public sector bodies are accounted for with effect from 
the date of transfer. Assets and liabilities are transferred at their carrying value at the date of 
transfer unless otherwise agreed and the balance sheet restated to reflect the value of assets 
brought onto or removed from the balance sheet. The financial effect of functions transferred, 
to or from the Council are disclosed separately in the current year as “transferred in” or 
“transferred out” operations. The financial effect of functions transferred to another public 
sector body are disclosed separately in the comparative year to enable the performance of 
continuing operations to be compared on a like for like basis. 

A function in this context is an identifiable service or business operation with an integrated set 
of activities, staff and recognised assets and/or liabilities that are capable of being conducted 
and managed to achieve the objectives of that service or business operation.

Discontinued operations are activities that cease completely. Income and expenditure relating 
to discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.

Page 60



                                             

Public Report
Audit Committee

Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting: 
Audit Committee - 28th January 2020

Report Title: 
Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Judith Badger, Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services

Report Author(s): 
David Webster (Head of Internal Audit).
Tel: 01709 823282 Email david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected: 
Borough-Wide.

Executive Summary: 
The report presents to the Audit Committee a forward work plan covering the next year. 
The plan shows how the agenda items relate to the objectives of the Committee. It is 
presented for review and amendment as necessary.

Recommendation:
The Audit Committee is asked to review the Forward Work Plan and suggest any 
amendments to it.

List of Appendices Included
Audit Committee Forward Work Plan.

Background Papers
Audit Committee Terms of Reference – Constitution, Appendix 9 Responsibilities and 
Functions, Section 5 Terms of Reference for Committees, Boards and Panels.

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel:
No 

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



                                             

Council Approval Required:
No

Exempt from the Press and Public:
No

Page 62



                                             

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan.

1. Background
1.1 The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference are published in the Constitution. The 

attached Forward Work Plan details how the committee meets those Terms of 
Reference. 

2. Key Issues
2.1 Local Government Audit Committees should comply with the Chartered Institute of 

Public Finance and Accountancy’s Position Statement and Practical Guidance for 
Audit Committees. The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee are designed to 
ensure the Committee meets the CIPFA standards. 

2.2 The forward work plan is designed to ensure that the key Audit Committee 
responsibilities are fulfilled.

3. Options considered and recommended proposal
3.1 The work plan for the Audit Committee is a helpful guiding document for the 

Committee itself and other stakeholders with an interest in the Committee’s 
activities. The work plan for the coming year by date is presented to each 
committee meeting for review and amendment.  

4. Consultation on Proposal
4.1 Relevant officers and the Audit Committee were consulted in producing the work 

plan.    

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision
5.1   The Forward Plan comprises a schedule of reports to be presented to the Audit 

Committee at each of its meetings during the year. Various reports have to be 
presented at specified meetings in order to comply with statutory requirements 
(for example relating to the statement of accounts and annual governance 
statement).

6. Financial and Procurement Implications 
6.1 There are no financial or procurement issues arising from this report.

7. Legal Advice and Implications
7.1 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report.

8.     Human Resources Advice and Implications
8.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising from the report.

9.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
9.1 The Audit Committee reviews the management of risks across the Council 

including those relating to Children’s and Adult Services. Review of the 
management of risks helps to ensure the risks are mitigated.

Page 63



                                             

10.   Equalities and Human Rights Advice and Implications
10.1 There are no direct Equalities or Human Rights implications arising from this 

report.   

11.    Implications for Partners
11.1 Partners will be able to take assurance on the Control’s application of 

governance controls and management of risks from the work of the Audit 
Committee. 

12.   Risks and Mitigation
12.1 The Audit Committee aims to comply with standards established by the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The 
maintenance of a work plan is consistent with the CIPFA standards. The 
production of a work plan also helps the Audit Committee to ensure it achieves 
its terms of reference.

13. Accountable Officer:
David Webster, Head of Internal Audit

Report Author: David Webster, Head of Internal Audit
01709 823282 – david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk 

Page 64

mailto:david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk


                                             

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

24th March 
2020

Internal Audit

Internal Audit / Governance Risk and 
Control

External Audit

Governance Risk and Control

Internal Audit

Internal Audit

Audit Committee Accountability

Audit Committee Accountability

Training

IA Strategy and Plan

IA Progress Report

External Audit Progress Update

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
CYPS

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Internal Audit Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Plan

Audit Committee Self-Assessment 

Audit Committee Forward Work plan

David Webster

David Webster

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Sally Hodges

David Webster

David Webster

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 65



                                             

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

June 2020

External Audit

Financial Reporting

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control 

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Internal Audit / Governance Risk and 
Control

Internal Audit

Governance Risk and Control

Audit Committee Accountability

Training – Statement of Accounts

External Audit Progress Update

Draft Statement of Accounts

Draft AGS

Review of Surveillance and use of Regulation 
of Investigatory Powers

External Audit and Inspection 
Recommendations

Risk Management Annual Report

IA Progress Report

IA Annual Report

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
Adult Care and Housing 

Audit Committee Forward Plan

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Graham Saxton

Judith Badger

Bal Nahal

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

Anne Marie Lubanski

David Webster

P
age 66



                                             

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

July 2020

Financial Reporting 

Governance Risk and Control

External Audit

External Audit

Treasury Management

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Audit Committee Accountability

Audit Committee Accountability

Internal Audit

Training 

Final Statement of Accounts

Final AGS

External Audit findings (ISA 260)

External Audit report on the Accounts

Annual Treasury Report

Information Governance Annual Report

Strategic Risk Register

Audit Committee Annual Report

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Private meeting

Graham Saxton

Judith Badger

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Graham Saxton

Paul Vessey

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 67



                                             

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

September 
2020

External Audit

Internal Audit

Internal Audit / Governance Risk and 
Control

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Audit Committee Accountability

Training

External Audit Annual Letter

IA Charter review and update

IA Progress Report

Risk Management Annual Report

Risk Management Directorate Presentation – 
Assistant Chief Executive

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
Strategy review and update

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

David Webster

David Webster

Simon Dennis

Shokat Lal

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 68



                                             

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

November 
2020

Governance Risk and Control

Treasury Management

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Internal Audit / Governance Risk and 
Control

Financial Reporting

Audit Committee Accountability

Training – Code of Corporate Governance

External Audit and Inspection 
recommendations

Mid-Year Report on Treasury Management

Code of Corporate Governance

Risk Management Strategy and Policy

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
Regeneration and Environment

IA Progress Report

Updates to Financial Procedures

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Simon Dennis

Graham Saxton

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

Paul Woodcock

David Webster

Graham Saxton

David Webster

P
age 69



                                             

Meeting 
Date

Key Responsibility Agenda Item Author

January 
2021

External Audit

Financial Reporting

External Audit

External Audit

Governance Risk and Control

Governance Risk and Control

Internal Audit / Governance Risk and 
Control

Audit Committee Accountability

Training 

External Audit Progress Update

Final Accounts closedown and accounting 
policies

External Audit Grants Report

Accounts Audit Plan

Strategic Risk Register

Risk Management Directorate Presentation – 
Finance and Customer Services

IA Progress Report

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Graham Saxton

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Grant Thornton / 
Graham Saxton

Simon Dennis

Judith Badger

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 70



Document is Restricted

Page 71 Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 76
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 80 Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 88
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 93 Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 111
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 26th November, 2019
	7 Grant Thornton External Audit Plan 2019/20
	Appendix 1 Rotherham MBC 2019-20 Audit Plan.FINAL

	8 Closure of the Accounts 2019/20
	Appendix B Accounting Policies

	9 Audit Committee Forward Work Plan
	12 Finance and Customer Services Directorate Risk Register
	Appendix 1 - Finance Directorate

	13 Corporate Strategic Risk Register
	Corporate Risk Register Appendix

	14 Internal Audit Progress Report - 1st November - 31st December, 2019
	Internal Audit Progress Report Appendix#


